
From: Michael Wright [mailto:michael@ieu.asn.au]  
Sent: Tuesday, 3 September 2019 12:33 PM 

To: Chambers - Hatcher VP 
Cc: SophieÂ MargaretÂ WhishÂ ; NicolaÂ ShawÂ ; PaulaÂ ThomsonÂ ; david.ireland@ags.gov.au; 
SimonÂ SpenceÂ ; Carol Matthews; Arthur Dowdle; Renee Mooney 
Subject: 2013/6333 & AM2018/9 â€“ Equal Remuneration Order / Application to Vary Modern Award - Revised 
documents 

Dear Associate, 

Re.: 2013/6333 & AM2018/9 – Equal Remuneration Order / Application to Vary Modern 

Award - Revised documents 

Please find attached the following documents for filing: 

1) An revised Annexure A (ERO Draft Order) to the Form F1 filed on 27 September 2017 [19.09.03

Amended ERO order.pdf]

2) A revised Form F46 Application to vary a modern award (original dated 17 August 2018)

[19.09.03 Revised f46 signed - IEU.pdf]

3) An revised Schedule A to the IEU Submissions in Reply (s158) dated 3 may 2019 [19.09.03

Amended Schedule A to IEU reply submissions 3 may 19.pdf]

19.09.03 Revised f46 signed - IEU.pdf 

The revisions reflect changes in the rates of pay contained in the Educational Services (Teaching) 

Award 2010 and other relevant industrial instruments. 

The parties to this matter are copied into this email by way of service. 

Regards, 

Michael Wright 

Dr Michael Wright | Senior Industrial Officer 

Independent Education Union of Australia 

NSW/ACT Branch 

485-501 Wattle Street Sydney 

P 02 8202 8982 E michael@ieu.asn.au W www.ieu.asn.au 

mailto:michael@ieu.asn.au
mailto:david.ireland@ags.gov.au
mailto:michael@ieu.asn.au
http://www.ieu.asn.au/


From: Robert Seals [mailto:robert@ieu.asn.au]  

Sent: Wednesday, 27 September 2017 4:06 PM 
To: Chambers - Hatcher VP 

Subject: C2013/6333 - Application for an Equal Remuneration Order - Amended Application 

Associate to Vice President Hatcher 

Dear Associate,  

The IEUA seeks to file as attached an amended Application Form F1 in accordance with the 
directions of the Vice President issued on 13 September 2017. The IEUA will serve the amended 
form on known interested parties.  

Kind regards, 

Robert Seals. 

Robert Seals | Industrial Officer 
     IEUA (NSW/ACT Branch) 
GPO Box 116 | SYD NSW 2001 

 The Briscoe Building 
      485 - 501 Wattle Street 

      ULTIMO NSW 2007 
02 8202 8900 | 02 9211 1455 

      www.ieu.asn.au 

mailto:robert@ieu.asn.au
http://www.ieu.asn.au/


FAIR WORK COMMISSION 
Form F1-Application (No Specific Form) 

Form F1-Application (No Specific Form Provided) 

Fair Work Commission Rules 2013, subrule 8(3) and Schedule 1 

This is an application to the Fair Work Commission. 

The Applicant 

ro These are the details of the person who is making the application.

Title [ ] Mr [ ] Mrs [ ] Ms [ ] Other please specify: 

First name(s) 

Surname 

Postal address 

Suburb 

State or territory 

Phone number 

Email address 

GPO Box 116 

Sydney 2001 

NSW 

02 8202 8900 

Postcode 

Fax number 

ca rol@ieu.asn.au; ind ustria l@ieu .asn .au 

2001 

02 9211 1455 

If the Applicant is a company or organisation please also provide the following details 

Legal name of business 

Trading name of business 

ABN/ACN 

Contact person 

Independent Education Union of Australia 

Carol Matthews 

How would you prefer us to communicate with you? 

[X] Email (you will need to make sure you check your email account regularly)

[ ] Post 

Does the Applicant have a representative? 

fl\ A representative is a person or business who is representing the Applicant. This might be a 
\j,..J lawyer, a union or a family member or friend who will speak on behalf of the Applicant. There 

is no requirement to have a representative. 

[ ] Yes-Provide representative's details below 

[X] No

Fair Work Commission Approved Forms-approved 22 August 2016 1/9 



















ANNEXURE A 

FAIR WORK COMMISSION 

DRAFT ORDER 
Fair Work Act 2009 
S 302 – Equal remuneration order 

Equal Remuneration Case 
Independent Education Union of Australia 

EDUCATIONAL SERVICES (TEACHERS) AWARD 2010 
[MA000077] 

1. Title
This Order is the Early Childhood Teachers in Long Day Care Centres and Preschools 
Equal Remuneration Order 2019. 

2. Commencement and Obligations

2.1. This Order shall commence on [insert date] and shall continue in force and effect
until further order of the Fair Work Commission. 

2.2. The monetary obligations imposed on employers by this Order may be absorbed 
into overaward payments. Nothing in this Order requires an employer to maintain 
or increase any overaward payment. 

2.3. Where agreed between the employer and a full-time or part-time employee, an 
employer may introduce remuneration packaging in respect of the monetary 
obligations imposed by this Order. The terms and conditions of such a package must 
not, when viewed objectively, be less favourable than the entitlements otherwise 
available under the Award and this Order. 

3. Definitions and Interpretations:

In this Order, unless contrary intention appears:

Act means the Fair Work Act 2009 (Cth)

Award means the Educational Services (Teachers) Award 2010

Award-based transitional instrument has the meaning in the Fair Work (Transitional
Provisions and Consequential Amendments) Act 2009 (Cth)

Employee means a person employed as a teacher, including a teacher employed as
director, in a long day care centre or preschool who is a national system employee
within the meaning of the Act.



Long day care centre means a children’s service or early childhood service that usually 
provides services over a period of at least eight hours per day and for 48 weeks or more 
during the year. 

On-hire means the on-hire of an employee by their employer to a client, where such 
employee works under the general guidance and instruction of the client or a 
representative of the client. 

Preschool means a service in the children’s services and early childhood education 
industry which usually operates during days and terms which approximate those of a 
recognised school, and includes a kindergarten, day school or nursery school. 

4. Coverage and application

4.1. This Order covers Employees, other than those employed by a State or Territory
government, employed in: 

(a) Long day care centres and
(b) Preschools
and covers the employers of those Employees.

4.2 This Order covers an employer that supplies labour on an on-hire basis to long day 
care centres or preschools in respect of on-hire Employees, and those on-hire 
Employees, while engaged in the performance of work for the long day care centre 
or preschool. 

5. Equal Remuneration Payment

5.1. The payments in clause 5.2 of this Order shall be referred to as the “Equal
Remuneration Payment”. 

5.2. From the first full pay period on or after [insert date], the employer must pay an 
Employee an Equal Remuneration Payment as follows: 

Level (as determined in 
accordance with clause 13 
of the Award) 

Equal Remuneration 
Payment 
Per Year 

(Preschools) 
$ 

Equal Remuneration 
Payment 
Per Year 

(Long Day Care) 
$ 

1 65, 608 68,929 68,232 71,686 
2 65, 608 68,929 68,232 71,686 
3 65, 608 68,929 68,232 71,686 
4 65, 608 68,929 68,232 71,686 
5 79,130 83,136 82,295 86,461 
6 79,130 83,136 82,295 86,461 
7 85, 888 90,236 82,295 93,845 
8 89, 273 93,793 92,844 97,545 



9 97,853 102,806 101,767 106,918 
10 97, 853 102,806 101,767 106,918 
11 97, 853 102,806 101,767 106,918 
12 97, 853 102,806 101,767 106,918 

An Employee appointed as a Director, in addition to the amounts payable 
pursuant to clause 5.2 of this Order, an annual allowance in accordance with 
clause 15.1 of the Award and based on the amounts payable pursuant to 
clause 5.2 of this Order. 

5.3. The payments in clause 5.2 of this Order shall be regarded as part of the ordinary 
rate of pay for all purposes. 

5.4. The employer must apply any increase in minimum wages in the Award to the 
amounts in clause 5.2 of this Order. 

6. Payment

Payments made by an employer in accordance with this Order must be paid weekly or
fortnightly by cash, cheque or electronic fund transfer into bank or financial institution
account nominated by the Employee, unless other arrangements are made in an
enterprise agreement approved under the Act.

7. Access to the Order

The employer must ensure that copies of this order are available to all Employees to
whom it applies either on a noticeboard which is conveniently located at or near the
workplace or through electronic means, whichever makes them more accessible.



ANNEXURE B 

THE APPLICATION 

1. The Applicant seeks an equal remuneration order pursuant to section 302 of the Fair

Work Act 2009 (Cth)("Act").

2. The Applicant seeks an equal remuneration order for early childhood teachers

(including early childhood teachers appointed as directors) who perform work in a

long day care centre or preschool covered by the Educational Services (Teachers)

Award 2010 (the "Teachers Modern Award"). There are over 12,000 early childhood

teachers covered by the application.

3. A long day care centre is a children's service or early childhood service that usually

provides service over a period of at least eight hours per day and for 48 weeks or

more during the year.

4. A preschool means a service in the children's service and early childhood education

industry which usually operates during days and terms which approximate those of a

recognised school, and includes a kindergarten, day school or nursery school.

4. The Applicant is an employee organisation that is entitled to represent the industrial

interests of employees covered by the application. The applicant has significant

membership amongst early childhood teachers employed in long day care centres in

NSW and ACT and amongst early childhood teachers employed in preschools in NSW

and ACT and Queensland. A majority of early childhood teachers employed in long

day care centres in Australia are employed in NSW.

GROUNDS 

5. For the reasons set out below, early childhood teachers employed in long day care

centres and preschools covered by the application do not receive equal

remuneration for work which is of equal or comparable value to work performed: by

other professionals in other industries; and by teachers employed in other parts of

the education industry.

Feature of the Sector

6. The sector is highly gender segregated. Over 95% of early childhood teachers

employed in long day care centres and preschools are women.

7. There is a high turnover of staff in the sector compared with other occupations

and/or industries.

8. There is an acute shortage of appropriately qualified staff in the sector.
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